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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

______________________________________________________________ X
MB, and RB, a minor, by his parent, RRB,
Plaintiffs,
ORDER
-against 14cV-4670(SIF)GRB)
ISLIP SCHOOL DISTRICT, ISLIP SCHOOL
DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION, CHAD FILED
WALLERSTEIN, individually and in his official capacity, CLERK
TIMOTHY MARTIN, individually and in official capacity,
TINA BALLINA, individually and in her official capacity, 6/16/2015 4:23 pm

JOE MODICA, individually and in his official capacity,
DONNA CARBONARO, individually and in her official
capacity, BARBARA NELSON, individually and in her
official capacity, JEAN TORRES, individually and in her
official capacity, and KRISTINE O'MALLEY,
individually and in her official capacity,

U.S. DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
LONG ISLAND OFFICE

Defendants.

FEUERSTEIN, J.

Plaintiffs MB and RB, a minor, by his parent, RRB (collectiviglhaintiffs”) commenced
this action on August 6, 2014 and filed an amended complaint on August 15, 2014 [Docket Entry
No. 5 (“Amended Complaint” or “Am. Compl.”dgainst defendants Islip School District
(“District”), Islip School District Board of Educatn (“Board”), Chad Wallerstein
(“Wallerstein”), Timothy Martin (“Martin”), Tina Ballina (“Ballina”), Je Modica (“Modica”),
Donna Carbonaro (“Carbonaro”), Barbara Nelson (“Nelson”), Jean Torres€SIprKristine
O’Malley (“O’Malley”) (collectively “defendants”) alleging disability dismination under the
Americans withDisabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 (*ADA”) and Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act 0fL973, 29 U.S.C. § 794 (“Rehabilitation Act”), violation of New York State
Human Rights Law (“NYSHR") Exec. Law 8290 et seq., violation of plaintiff's constitutional
right to equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution pursuant to

42 U.S.C. § 1983 (“Section 1983"), negligencegligenceer se and negligent infliction of
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emotional distressPending before the Court are defendants’ motion to dismiss the Amended
Complaint pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
[Docket Entry No. 20 (“Motion to Dismiss”)] and plaintiffs’ croesstion b amend the
Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. [Docket
Entry No. 25 (“Cross-Motion to Amend”)]. For the reasons set forth below, the Motion to
Dismiss is granted in part and denied in part, and the Cross-Motion to Amend is grantéd in pa
and denied in part.
l. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

RB is a fifteen (15) year old boy with Klinefelter Syndror®ddsessiveCompulsive
Disorder (“OCD”), anxiety disorder, seizure disorder (epilepsy), tic dis¢ideirette’s
syndrome), developmental delays, mild mental retardation, brain trauma and dsiket
Entry No. 26, Ex. B (“Proposed Second Amended Complaint” or “Proposed JAIL")As a
result of these disorders, RB suffers from involuntary movesreamd comments associated with
his tic disorder, panic attacks, severe anxiety, many characteristicssof 4dtif 18) and
involuntarily performs rituals which require him to “tic-tap,” move, and curse invalimt Id.
1 30. Plaintiffsallege that wer the course RB’s education within the District, he has been the
target of “continuous discrimination, harassment, neglect and bullying by tietea
administrators and studentdd. 2.

1. 20112012 Academic Year
RB was homeschooled from second to sixth grade, but began attending Islip Middle

School in the 2012012 academic year in an inclusive/collaborative seventh grade da$§s.

L The following facts are taken from the Proposed SAC.



20. On September 14, 2011, RB received his first suspension following an incident where, after
he climbed on bleachers in the gymnasium, his aide grabbed him, pulled him off the bleachers
and across the gymnasium floor in front of general education students, and broughtieim to t
principal’s office where he received a lunch detentiloh.{{ 2123. Defendant Wallerstein, the
acting principal, instructed the aide not to allow RB to leave the office until his nasthexd at
the school.ld. T 24. RB was extremely nervous and anxious to be alone in the principal’s office
for several hours with the aide who hadstreated him and attempted to exit the principal’s
office, at which point the aide blocked his exit, causing RB to panic, a result of resyanxi
disorder, and push past his aide to leave the office, for which defendant Wallesstditesl
RB’s punishment to a two (2) day suspension from schidol{ 2527. Following RB’s
suspension, his two pditne aides were replaced by Mr. Silver, a-tithe aide which
purportedlyexacerbated the symptomsha$ disabilities, particularly his OCD and tic disorder
and caused him to receive multiple lunch detentions throughout the 2011-2012 schotal.year.
19 3631. On October 17, 2011, RB was suspended for five (5) days for reaching around his
special education teacher, Jean Torres, to complete his tic tpsSifver. Id. 11 3233.

Plaintiffs allege that instead of proposing a Functional Behavioral sresed (“FBA”)
or a Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”) and instructing RB’s teachers anthadrators on how
to deal with his disabilities, the District teachers and administradatsely punished RB, sent
him out of class, degraded and humiliated in front of his classmates, failed to impthene
agreed upon requirements of his IEP by failing to provide copies of class notesdifiddn
homework assignments, and in October 2011, pressured RB’s parents to remove him from the

co-teach classroom and place him in a-selfitained special education classrodo. {{ 3438.



Plaintiffs allegethat defendant Martin, the principal at the time, forR&dto transition into the
self-contaned class and reclassified him as a sixth grader, moving him back one ¢pla8ie38.

In November 2011, RB was moved into a self-contained classroom with fourteen (14)
other students, one of whom, named “L”, began to bully RB on a regular basis because of his
disabilities, particularly his uncontrollable tickl. {1 4852. RB reported this bullying to his
teacher on multiple occasions but his complaints were routinely ignored and no acttakemas
to address the bullying of RBd.

2. 2012 Annual IP Review

A Committee on Special Education (“CSE”) meeting was held on May 31, 2012 for the
annual review of RB’s IEPId. 1 53. At that meeting, it was determined that a Behavioral
Improvement Plan (“BIP”) would be incorporated into RB’s IH&. 1 3 54. Plaintiffs allege
that RB’s IEP specified that his teachers would receive training fromawioesl consultant but
that notrainingever took placeld. § 55. Plaintiffs allege they requested RB receive class notes
and assistive technology for writing, but this agreement was never put int@&®E2s2013 IEP.

Id. § 56. Plaintiffs also allege thiiey requested RB be placed in ateach classroom and
protectedid. 1 58), but that defendant Martin threatened that RB would not be able to attend
school in the District unless he agreed to placement iktepthined classroom for the 2012-
2013 school yearld. 1 59. Plaintiffs allege this was a retaliatory action for their complaints
regarding the discriminatory treatment of RB.  59.

3. 2012-2013 Academic Year

During the 2012-2013 academic year, L continued to bully RB, causing RB severe
anxiety and fear of schoold. {1 6668. MB alerted RB’s teacher to this bullying and requested

that the boys be separated, but the teacher continued to pair the boys in class, @aasing m



bullying of RB. Id.  65. RB also reported the bullying to the school psychologist on multiple
occasions but the school psychologist purportedly did not respond and allowed the bullying to
persist. Id. T 66.

In September 2012, Mr. Silver, RB’s fuiline aide, was replacetth two parttime
aides.Id. 1 69. Plaintiffs allege these agddid not understand RB’s disabilities and learning
needs because despite the requirements of RB’s IEP, no behavioral consulting vaes! ggoovi
these new pattime aides.ld. RB’s difficulty adjusting to these two new aides made him
depressed and extremely anxious, which exacerbated his tic dislokdg70. RB was
suspended for two (2) days as a result of an October 9, 2012 incident during which RBdfollowe
one of his new aides acothe classroom to complete his tic tappifdy. 19 71-73. Plaintiffs
allege that RB'’s suspension was a result of his disability and defendants taiimplement
the requirements of RB’s IERd.  73. On March 18, 2013, RB was disciplined withesal/
days of after school detention for an incident in which he grabbed a teacher'shsmyest
action that plaintiffs allege stemmed from his anxiety disortter]{ 7475. On April 10, 2013,
RB was given a five (5) day suspension and advised éhabk not allowed to have any contact
with other students following an incident where “he had an involuntary tic in which he
unintentionally made contact with [a teacher’s] fade. | 76. RB subsequently began to suffer
emotional and physical manifestats of his stress and anxiety about attending school, including
exacerbations of his tic disorder and difficulty eating and sleeping, and vaéisreaily unable
to return to school for the remainder of the 2012-2013 school {eeff] 7778.

4. Manifestaton Review
On May 7, 2013, e CSE Meeting for a Manifestation Review, the CSE determined that

RB’s disciplinary nfractions were a manifestatiam his disabilities which were handled



incorrectly because the BIP specified in his IEP was never propelgnmented, and RB'’s
parents and administrators agreed to expunge RB’s disciplinary record §dite bnd remove
all infractions. Id. 1 8183.
5. Home Tutoring and Retaliation

RB was unable to return to school for the remainder of the 2012-2013 selaoaing
was provided with home tutorsd. 9 8486. Despite scoring eighfive (85) onhis final
Social Studies exanone hundred (100) on his final Pidgebra exam, ninetgeven (97) on his
Science final exam, and sixfiye (65) on his Reading Lalnal exam, RB was given a grade of
sixty-five (65) in every class for the fourth quarter of the 2012-2013 school g4 8687.
RB’s parents complained to the District about RB’s grades but no action was takemretb c
them. Id. 1 88. In August 2013, RB’s parents informed the District that RB would not be
returning to school and requested a cross-contract (or school choice) wherelsgribevimuld
pay for RB to attend school outside the Districk. § 89. The District contacté&@iommack
Union Free School District, East Islipnion Free School District, Bayport-Blue Point School
District, Lindenhurst Union Free School District, Connetquot School District, afttitSwn
Central School District and requested that RB be considered for placemtrd eduesivas
denied by each of these districtd. 1 9091. Plaintiffs allege that despite the agreement at the
Manifestation Review, RB’s disciplinary record was not expunged and each schaci dis
received notification of RB'’s disciplinaryfiractions. Id. § 91. Plaintiffs allegéhatthis was
done “intentionally to spite [RB’s] parents for their complaints of discritonygractices within

the District” (d. 1 92)and was “retaliatory in nature against a disabled studieint.”



6. 20132014 Academic Year

For the 2013-2014 school year, RB'’s parents requested the same home tutors with whom
RB worked in the last quarter of the 2012-2013 school year, however the District et tut
from a different agency who were not provided withess to the appropriate curriculum or text
books, “effectively den[ying] RB any real educationd. 11 9495. Plaintiffs alleged that MB
madenumerous complaints and requests that went unheeded by the District in “diteticeta
against Plaintiff fo complaining of discriminatory practices within the Districtd. § 95. RB
and his family were forced to move to Massapequa, New York to get an appropriateoaduca
for RB. Id. 1 96. RB is currently receiving psychological counseling from the F&ueityice
League and the services of a social workdr.y 97.

B. Procedural Background

Plaintiffs initiated this action by filing a complaint on August 6, 2014, which they
amended on August 15, 2018eeAm. Compl. On October 17, 2014, defendants served their
Motion to Dismiss, which plaintiffs opposed and cross-moved to amend the Amended
Complaint. SeeCrossMotion to Amend. The Proposed Second Amended Compkimbves
the cause of action under the NYSHRL, adds a claim for retaliation under theAdihe
Rehabilitation Act, and removes all individual defendants other than Wallerstein ainal (thee
“Individual Defendants”).SeeProposed SAC.

Federal Rug of Civil Procedure 15 goverasnendments to pleadingadprovides, in
pertinent part, “a party may amend its pleading only with the opposing partitesnwaonsent or
the court’s leave. The court should freely give leave when justice so reqbiedsRk. Civ. P.
15(a)(2) Notwithstanding these liberstandards, the decision to grant or deny a party’s motion

for leave to amend “is within the sound discretion of the district court.”



Southold 48 F.3d 674, 685 (2d Cir. 199&jting John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Amerford
Int'l Corp., 22 F.3d 458, 462 (2d Cir. 1994)A court may deny leave to amend in
circumstances of “undue delay, bad faith, futility of the amendment, [or]... prejlidiestna
Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Aniero Concrete Co.,.Int04 F.3d 566, 603-04 (2d Cir. 2005) (quoting
Richardson Greenshields Secs., Inc. v.,188b F.2d 647, 653 n.6 (2d Cir.1987RA proposed
amendment is futile where the claims would not survive a motion to disB@asgyherty v. Town
of North Hempstead Bd. of Zoning Appeai82 F.3d 83, 88 (2d Cir. 2002).

Because plaintiffs moved to amend the Amended Complaint while defendants’ motion to
dismiss was pending, the Cobds “a variety of ways in which it may deal with the pending
motion to dismiss, from denying the motion to dismiss as moot to considering the memts of th
motion in light of the amended complaintSchwartzco Enters. LLC v. TMH MgnmiLC, No.
14-iv-1082, 2014 WL 6390299, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 17, 2014) (internal quotations and
citation omitted). As plaintiffs do not seek to add new defendants, and defendants hashsuffic
opportunity to respond to the Proposed SAC, the merits of the motion to dismiss will be
considered in light of the proposed SA8eeCostello v. Town of HuntingtpiNo. 14¢€iv-2061,
2015 WL 1396448, at *1 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 25, 2015) (“the Court will considemherits of
Defendant’s motion [to dismiss] in light of the allegations in the proposed Amended
Complaint”); Schwartzo Enterprises LLC2014 WL 6390299, at *@the merits of theMotion
to Dismiss will be considered in light of the proposed amended complaint”).

In opposing plaintiffs’ Cross-Motion to Amend, defendants do not argue that granting
plaintiffs’ motion would prejudice defendants, unduly delay the proceedings, or cowdemn
bad faith, but rather argue that the proposed amendment would bédctles¢he Proposed

SAC is subject to dismissal for the reasons set forth in defendants’ Motion tsfigBocket



Entry No. 23 (Reply Memorandum of Law in Further Support of Defendants’ Motion to €ismi
(“Def. Reply”)), at £3]. Therefore, plaintiffsCrossMotion to amend should be granted to the
extent that the proposed amendments are not fiddeHaag v. MVP Health Care866
F.Supp.2d 137, 140 (N.D.N.Y. 2012) (“Indeed, if the propdS&L] cannot survive the motion
to dismiss, then plaintiff$frossmotion to anend will be denied as futile.”) (citingougherty
282 F.3d at 88). “An amendment to a pleading is futile if the proposed claim could not withstand
a motion to dismiss pursuateotFed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6).Annunziato v. Collecto, In293 F.RD.
329, 333 (E.D.N.Y. 2013)iting Lucente v. Int'| Bus. Machs. Cor@10 F.3d 243, 258 (2d Cir.
2002).
Il. DISCUSSION

A. Standards of Review

“When a defendant moves to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1) for laskopéct matter
jurisdiction, and also moves to dismiss on other grounds, such as Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to
state a claim upon which relief can be granted, thet@oust consider the Rule 12(b)(1) motion
first.” Bobrowsky v. Yonkers Courthou3&7 F. Supp. 2d 692, 703 (S.D.N.Y. 20XBeRhulen
Agency, Inc. v. Alabama Ins. Guar. Ass886 F.2d 674, 678 (2d Cir. 1990) (“Where, as here,
the defendant moves for dismissal under Rule 12(b)(1), as well as other grounds, the court
should consider the Rull2(b)(1) challenge first since if it must dismiss the complaint for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction, the accompanying defenses and objections beootrenchdo not
need to be determingdl (internal citations omitted). A’ case is properly dismissedrflack of
subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) when the district court hecksatutory or
constitutional power to adjudicate itMakarova v. United State201 F.3d 110, 113 (2d Cir.

2000) seeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1)It is axiomatic that federal courts are courts of limited



jurisdiction and may not decide cases over which they lack subject matter tiorsdidnlike
failure of personal jurisdiction, failure of subject matter jurisdiction isvavable and may be
raised at anyime by a party or by the cowstia sponte If subject matter jurisdiction is lacking,
the action must be dismissed.yndonville Sav. Bank & Trust Co. v. Lussi2t1 F.3d 697, 700-
01 (2d Cir. 2000)see also Henderson ex rel. Henderson v. ShinSéRiU.S. 428, 434, 131
S.Ct. 1197, 1202, 179 L.Ed.2d 159 (2011) (“[F]ederal courts have an independent obligation to
ensure that they do not exceed the scope of their jurisdiction, and therefore thegisalwsta
decide jurisdictional questions that the parties either overlook or elect not to pregstidDs

to subject matter jurisdiction...may be raised at any time.”). Accordifigiyore deciding any
case we are required to assure ourselves that the case is properly withinjextrmsatter
jurisdiction” Wynn v. AC Rocheste273 F.3d 153, 157 (2d Cir. 2001) (citations omittdd).
resolving a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Ruig(1R @

district courtmay refer to evidence outside the pleadingee Makarova201 F.3d at 113A
plaintiff asserting subject matter jurisdiction has the burden of provingpbgpanderance of the
evidence that it existdd.

The standard of review on a motion made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules
of Civil Proceduras that a plaintiff plead sufficient facts “to state a claimelcef that is
plausible on its face.Bell Atlantic Corpv. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167
L.Ed.2d 929 (2007)A claim has “facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleadsfual content
that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendaneifoliahé
misconduct alleged.’Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868
(2009). The pleading of specific facts is not required; rather a complaint neagivantie

defendant “fair notice of what the...claim is and the grounds upon which it résiskson v.

10



Pardus 551 U.S. 89, 93, 127 S.Ct. 2197, 167 L.Ed.2d 1081 (2007) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted) “A pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusioos*a formulaic recitation of
the elements of eause of action will not do.”Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173
L.Ed.2d 868 (quotingwombly 550 U.S. at 555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 928pr does a
complaint suffice if it tenders ‘naked assertion[s]’ devoitfurther factual enhancement.’ld.
(quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 557, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 92@actual allegations

must be enough to raise a right to relief above the fgaailevel, on the assumption that all
the allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful in fadiyvombly 550 U.S. at 555,
127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 9daternational citations omitted)The plausibility standard
requires “more than dser possibility that agflendant has acted unlawfullyfgbal, 556 U.S. at
678, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868. Moreover, in deciding a motion purséasiéeto
12(b)(6), the Court must liberally construe the claims, accept all fadtegations in tk
complaint as true, and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the plagadhegis Ins.
Sens,, Inc. v. 7 World Trade Co., L.P737 F.3d 166, 176 (2d Cir. 201&rullon v. City of New
Haven, 720 F.3d 133, 139 (2d Cir. 2013). However, tareet “is inapplicable to legal
conclusiong’ and “[tlhreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supporteddy m
conclusory statements, do not sufficégbal, 556 U.S. at 678, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d
868;see alsdVNilson v. Dantas746 F.3d 530, 535 (2d Cir. 2014). “While legal conclusions can
provide the framework of a complaint, they must be supported by factual allegatigiosl,”

556 U.S. at 679, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868;alsdRuston v. Town Bd. for Town of
Skaneateles610 F.3d 55, 59 (2d Cir. 2010) (“A court can choose to begin by identifying
pleadings that, because they are no more than conclusions, are not entitledsartiypgian of

truth.”) (quotations and citations omitted)

11



B. Federal Law Claims
1. SubjectMatter Jurisdiction

Defendants move to dismiss the ADA, Rehabilitation Act, and Section 1983 claims (the
“Federal Law Claims”) pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) of Federal Rules of Breitedure arguing
that plaintiffs’ failure to exhaust the administrativenexlies provided for in the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) deprives the Court of subject matter jisisnh. [Docket
Entry No. 22 (Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“Def.
Mem.”)), at 48]. Plaintiffs argie that they were not required to exhaust theiriaidtnative
remedies under the IDEA [Docket Entry No. 24 (Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in SupporossCr
Motion to Amend and in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“Pl. Opp.”)), at 15-19],
and that even if their claimgere subject to the IDEA’s exhaustion requirement, their failure to
exhaust their administrative remedies should be excused under one or more dftthe futi
exceptions.PIl. Opp., at 10-11.

a. IDEA’s Exhaustion Requirement

“The IDEA’s central mandate is to provide disabled students with a ‘free appropriate
public education’ in the least restrictive environment suitable for their rieédge v. East
Meadow Union Free Sch. Dish14 F.3d 240, 245 (2d Cir. 2008ge alsdPolera v. Bd. of
Educ. of Newburgh Enlarged City Sch. Di&88 F.3d 478, 481-82 (2d Cir. 20@2)he
IDEA...mandates federal grants to states to provide disabled childtiefaviree appropriate
public education’ in the least restrictive appropriate environmeritUiider theeducational
scheme of the IDEA.parents of students with disabling conditions are guaranteed ‘both an
opportunity for meaningful input into allecisons affecting their child education and the right

to seek review of any decisions they think inappropriat@ave 514 F.3d at 245 (quoting

12



v. Doe,484 U.S. 305, 311-12, 108 S.Ct. 592, 98 L.Ed.2d 686 (1988)). “Educators and parents of
a child covered by the IDEA must jointly develop an ‘individualized education proddai’)
for each year of the child’s educatioRblera 288 F.3d at 482'The IEP is the central
mechanism by which public schools ensure that their disabled students rece&va@phiopriate
public education.’ld.

“The IDEA requires that states offer parentadisabled student an array of procedural
safeguards designed to help ensure the education of their chidi[(Eiting 20 U.S.C. §
1415(a)). “If a parent believes that her child’s IEP or the school’s impletitantd the IEP
does not comply with the IDEA, the parent may file a ‘due process complaint’ with the
appropriate state agency’M.v. New York City Dep’'t of Edu&69 F. App’'x 57, 58 (2d Cir.
June 18, 2014(citing 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(})see alscCave 514 F.3d at 24%'Parents
are..entitled to request due process hearing in order to present complaints as ‘to any matter
relating to the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of the chilte provision
of a freeappropriate public education.”) (quoting 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(§)(20 U.S.C. §
1415(f), (g) and (h) (delineating the procedural safeguards for parties filingmatothand their
right to seek review through local and state admirtigergrocesses). “Districts are then
permitted a thirtyday ‘resolution period’ to address alleged deficiencies without
penalty.”B.M., 569 F. Appk at 58(citing 20 U.S.C. 8.415(f)(1)(B). “Once the resolution
period has run, a parent may continue to a due process hearing before an independent hearing
officer (‘IHO’) and appeal the resulting decision to a state review offiS&®0’).” Id. (citing 20
U.S.C. 8§ 1415(f), N.Y. Educ. Law 8§ 4404)(2ee als®?0 U.S.C. 88 1415(qg).

“Only after exhaustion of th[e] procedures [set forth in Section 1415 of the IDEAgrhas

aggrieved party the right to file a suit irieleral or state courtCave 514 F.3d at 24%citing 20

13



U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(A) see alsaColeman v. Newburgh Enlarged City Sch. D803 F.3d 198,
204-05 (2d Cir. 20071t is well settled that the IDEA requires an aggrieved party to exhaust all
administrative remedies before bringing a civil actiofederal or state court...”§j@otingJ.S. ex
rel. N.S. v. Attica Cent. Scl386 F.3d 107, 112 (2d Cir. 2004)Failure to exhaust the
administrative remedies deprives the court of subject matter jurisdicti@avg 514 F.3d at 245
(citing Pdlera, 288 F.3d at 483). The IDEA’s exhaustion requirement applies “not only when
[litigants] wish to file a suit under the IDEA itself, but also whenever they assert claimediéd
availableunder the IDEA, regardless of the statutory basis of theaptaint’ Cave 514 F.3d
at 24 (emphasis in original).
b. Application of the IDEA’s Exhaustion Requirement

Plaintiffs’ Federal Law Claims allege violations of the ADA, Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Actand Section 1983, all of whichessubject to the IDEA’s exhaustion
requirement “if the relief sought under those statutes would also be availabiehenti2EA.
Cave 514 F.3d at 245 n.2 (“the IDEAkxhaustion requirement applies equally to relief
available under other statutes, such as the ADA, Section 504, and 8§ 1983, if the relief sought
under those statutes wouldalbe available under the IDEA.”). Plaintiffs argue that they “were
not requireda exhaust their administrative remedies because they are not seeking a remedy
available under the IDEA...[r]ather, plaintiffs are seeking a redress oinlag/ful
discrimination endured by RB, predicated upon his disability and manifest in plaeades
discipline and treatment he received from Defendan®.”Opp., at 18-7. Plaintiffs allege that
“this isnota case about special education, or challenging the adequacy of services rendered to a
disabled student...[r]ather [the] complaint alleges delibenaliéerence to bullying, harassment

and discrimination of [RB] by teachers, administrators, and other students, bas&isjn [R

14



disability” (id. at 17) (emphasis in original), and thus because they allege “discronibatyond
a mere violation of the IBA” (id.), the IDEA’s exhaustion requirement is not applicable.
However, while plaintiffs allege that their clairfdo not concern the adequacy of [RB’s]
educational services, but rather the discipline he was subjected to becaushsaiiisy” (id.
at 19), the Proposed SAC alleges that unequal treatment and disparate disciplicé f®Bvhi
was subjected basegon his disabilityimpactedhis educational services becausenas
“denied..the opportunity to benefit from the Defendant District and Boadigational
services” (Proposed SAC 1 101) and that the “disparate discipline became siv@déinahst
detracted from RB’s educational experience that he had to be homeschooled, andlyeventua
relocated to another school district effectively denyimg bgual access to the District’s
resources and opportunitiesd’ § 102. As the Second Circuit has noted, “education, as used
within the IDEA, encompasses more than simply academi8gdpkay v. Garden City Union
Free Sch. Dist.593 F. App’x 37, 40 (2d Cir. 2014) (quotiG@ave 514 F.3d at 248). Because
plaintiffs’ “claims constitute ‘grievances related to the education of disabled chilidireyare
subject to the IDEA’s exhaustion requirementStropkay 593 F. Appx at40 (quotingPolera
288 F.3d at 481)Like the discrimination claims, plaintiff's retaliati@and Section 1988laims
also relate to thmterplay between RB’s disability and the educational services provided to him
and/or his treatment by teachers and school administfatBesause plaintiffs’ Federal Law
Claims “all relate to the identification, evaluation, or educational placeofi¢RB], or his

treatment by his teacher because of his disability...these claims all invBlsg fight to a free

2 SeeProposed SAC 1 107 (alleging that defendants retaliated against plaintifésling to expunge
[RB’s] disciplinary record as agreed upon, artificially loweringdriades, failing to provide tutors with a
curriculum or instruction, sending entire regavith the disciplinary actions and low grades to other schpdt$”
Opp. at 19 (“Plaintiffs allege constitutional violations of RB’s right to Equatdetmn stemming from the
inappropriate discipline and deliberate indifference to instances ofrigilyi

15



appropriate public education...[and] are squarely within the ambit of the IDBAldessarre v.
Monroe-Woodbury Cent. Sch. Djs220 F. Supp. 2d 490 (S.D.N.Y. 2014jf'd sub nom.
Baldessarre ex rel. Baldessarre v. Monroe-Woodbury Cent. Sch.496tF. App’x 131 (2d Cir.
2012) seealsoGardner v. Uniondale Pub. Sch. Djdlo. 08¢iv-847, 2008 WL 4682442, at *9
(E.D.N.Y. Oct. 21, 2008[*plaintiffs must comport with the requirements of IDEA, which is
intended to remedy precisely the type of claim presented-haaienely, that local school
authorities failed to adequately provide a disabled student with appropriatéi@thicservices
and educational environment. As the gravamen of plain&ffgon here relates to the
deprivation of free and appropriate educational services, which is clearly wighambit of the
IDEA, their request for damages pursuant to other federal statutstsaséatbrt law does not
allow them to evade the statugegxhaustion requiremefjt(internal citation omitted).
Accordingly, absent an applicable exception, plaintiffs were required to exhairst
administrative remedies under the IDEA prior to filthgs action.
C. Exceptions to the IDEA’s Exhaustion Requirement

“The exhaustion requirement is excused when exhaustion would be futile because the
administrative procedures do not provide an adequate rem€aye 514 F.3d at 249.To
show futility, a paintiff must demonstrate thaadequate remedies are not reasonably available’
or that ‘the wrongs alleged could not or would not have been corrected by resort to the
administrative hearing processColeman 503 F.3dat 205 (quoting).G. v. Bd. of Educ. of
Rochester City Sch. DisB30 F.2d 444, 447 (2d Cir. 198Heldman v. Sobob62 F.2d 148,
158 (2d Cir. 1992)). The Second Circuit hasc¢epted arguments of futility where parents were
not informed of administrative remedies...where the state ageasyself acting contrary to

law...where the case involves systemic violations that could not be remedmchbygr state
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adminigrative agencies.an emergency situation exists (e.g., the failure to take immediate action
will adversely affect a child mental or physical health)Baldessarre exrel. Baldessarre496

F. App’x at 134(quotations and citations omitted)) or “where the complaint alleges that the
defendant school district “had failed to implement the clestdyed requirements of the IEPs.”
Stropkay 593 F. Appx at 41(quotingPolera 288 F.3d at 488). In addition, “if plaintiffs can
demonstrate that there is no relief available to them through the administrativesptbeg may

avail themselves of the futility...exception[ ] to the exhaustion requiremeiiaylor v.

Vermont Dep't of Edu¢313 F.3d 768, 790 (2d. Cir. 2002).

Plaintiffs concede that they “did not exhaust the administrative reviewwsgoequired
by the IDEA with regards to disproportionate and discriminatory discipliPe{pp., at 10) but
argue that their failure to exhaust “should be excused unddutility exceptions’because: (1)
defendants failed to implement the requirements of RB’s IEP, specifigallyling to put into
place a Behavioral Intervention Planb@havioral consulting as required by RB’s &P &t 10
11); (2) “the administrative process would not have corrected the alleged ivbecgsise RB
was emotionally damaged and “no administrative process could have repaifjeghfibtional
damage” (Pl. @p., at 11); and (3) defendants “failed to inform Plaintiff of the administrative
process” and thus “[RB] and his family were never informed of their rights, annieid of the
administrative process.” Pl. Opp. at 11.

The Court need not address each paefutility exception because, as nowapra the
exhaustion requirement “will be excused where...the parents have not been notified that
[administrative remedies] were available to thefé&ixel v. Bd. of Educ. of City of New Y,ork
287 F.3d 138, 149 (2d Cir. 2002). Based upon the allegations in the Proposed SAC, which are

accepted as true for purposes of this motion, administrative remedies wevailadiia to
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plaintiffs because they were “never informed of their due process rightsaadoire for wicth

to challenge the IEP” (Proposed SAC { 56) and therefore “could not be requiredust ¢lbi
administrative remedies.ld. § 57;see als&Conway v. Bd. of Educ. of Northport-E. Northport
Sch. Dist,. No. 13¢€iv-5283, 2014 WL 3828383, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 1, 20fH] ased upon
the allegations in the complaint, which are accepted as true for purposesubtibis,
administrative remedies were not available to plaintiff because defemtichmist inform her
about the procedural safeguards of the IDEA at any time during the ZWl2academic year, in
violation of Section 1415 of the IDEX Keitt v. New York City882 F. Supp. 2d 412, 435-36
(S.D.N.Y. 2011)*accepting as true, at this stage of the litigation, [plaintifflEggations that
Defendants failed to provide notice of the procedural safeguards availablehet2EA,
[plaintiff] has satisfied his burden of demonstrating that the futility exception to the eahaust
requirement appli€y; Mason By & Through Mason v. Schenectady Sch. Dist.879 F.

Supp. 215, 218-19 (N.D.N.Y. 1993) (declining to dismiss action on exhaustion grounds where
plaintiff claimed “that the School District persistently failed to inform her (and qieents) of

the procedural protections as the IDEAuies”) (internal citations and quotations omittéd).

3 At the Court’s direction, defendants submitted documentation allegedlyigsitapthey
providedplaintiffs with notice of their due process procedural safeguard rightsignt to the IDEA
[Docket No. 30, at 1]. The letter submitted by deteridrefers tathe District’s policyto provide a copy
of a “Procedural Safeguards Notice” at a student’s “initial referral to a C&Rlsmwith other
communications to a parent” andntends thdftlhe plaintiffs, therefore, received théotice at eaclof
those times.”ld. Defendants also submitted letters sent to plamtititingthe Procedural Safeguards
Notice previously sent and notitigat plaintiffscould request an additional copy [Docket Entry No. 30,
Ex. 2], and one letter from March 25, 20dtatingthat “a copy of the Procedural Safeguards Notice” was
enclosed, however the exhibit does not attach a copy of the 2011 ProcedunaduSiafélptice.ld. Even
assumingplaintiffs received a copy of the 2011 Procedural Safeguards Nett@n March 25, 2011
and assuming the 2011 Procedural Safeguards Notice complied with statutaigmneqts of théDEA,
“[a] copy of the procedural safeguards available to the paofmm child with a disability shatle given to
the parents...1 time a year...[and] also...upon initial referral or pareaést for evaluation; upon the
first occurrence of the filing of a complaint under subsection (b&¢&);upon request by a parent.” 20
U.S.C. § 1415(d). The documentation submitted by defendants dio@smonstrate that defendants
complied with the IDEA by providing plaintiffs a copy of the procedural safeguardildle to them
each academic yeaGee Conway2014 WL 3828383, at *13 (thministrative remedies were not
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Therefore, the branch of defendants’ Motion to Dismiss seeking dismissaluisua
Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for plaintiffs’ failarexhaust their
administrative reradies is denied based on the allegations in the Proposed SAC that plaintiffs
were never informed of the administrative remedies available to them.

2. Individual Liability under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act

Defendants have moved to dismiss the ADA Retiabilitation Act claims asserted
against the individual defendants because “there is no individual liability under theAtbe
Rehabilitation Act.” Def. Mem., at 8 n.1. Because éjtfjer the ADA nor the Rehabilitation
Act provides for individual &bility premise on claims for monetary damag&gne v. Carmel
Cent. Sch. DistNo. 12€iv-5429, 2014 WL 7389438, at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 15, 2014)), and
because plaintiffs seek only monetary damages, the ADA and Rehabilitatiomifrts elgainst
the individual defendants must be dismissg8deCastro v. City of New Yor4 F. Supp. 3d
250, 259 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (dismissing ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims against individual
defendants because neitlseatuteprovides for individual liability for claims for monetary
damages)Cohn v. KeySpan Corp/13 F. Supp. 2d 143, 154-55 (E.D.N.Y. 201s3n(e).

3. Equal Protection Claim

Plaintiffs and defendants agree that plaintiffs’ Equal Protection eagarta “classof-
one” claim. Def. Mem., at-22; PIl. Opp., at 20-22In a “class of one” equal protection claim,
“the plaintiff uses the existence of persons in similar circumstances waioa@enore favorable
treatment than the plaintiff...to provide aference that the plaintiff was intentionally singled
out for reasons that so lack any reasonable nexus with a legitimate govialnpokey that an

improper purposenxhether personal or otherwase all but certain.”Prestopnik v. Whelar249

available to plaintiff becauseetendants did not inform her about the procedural safeguards of the IDEA
at any time during the 2012—2013 academic year, in violation of Section 1415 of the)IDEA”
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F. App’x 210, 212-13 (2d Cir. 2007) (internal citations and quotations omitted). To prevail on a
“class of one” claim, plaintiff must demonstrate that “she has been intenyidrested
differently from others similarly situated and that there is no rational foadise difference in
treatment.”’Pappas v. Town of EnfieltNo. 14-2134, 2015 WL 2146140, at *1 (2d Cir. May 8,
2015) (quotingAnalytical Diagnostic Labs, Inc. v. KuséR6 F.3d 135, 140 (2d Cir. 2010)). “A
successful claim requires ‘an extremely hagigree of similarity between [the plaintiff] and
[her] comparators.”ld. (citing Fortress Bible Church v. Feing894 F.3d 208, 222 (2d Cir.
2012)). “Indeed, the plaintiff must point to at least one other individual whose circunsstance
aside from being treated more favorably than plaintiff, prena facieidentical’ in all other
respects.’Rinaldi v. City of New YorkNo. 13€iv-4881, 2014 WL 2579931, at *11 (S.D.N.Y.
June 10, 2014yeport and recommendation adoptétb. 13¢€iv-4881, 2014 WL 4626076
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 2014¢iting Neilson v. D’Angelis409 F.3d 100, 104 (2d Cir. 2005).
plaintiff must establish that

(i) no rational person could regard the circumstances of the plaintiff

to differ from those of a comparator to a degree that wsiify

the differential treatment on the basis of a legitimate government

policy; and (ii) the similarity in circumstances and difference in

treatment are sufficient to exclude the possibility that the defendants

acted on the basis of a mistake.
Pappas 2015 WL 2146140, at *Icitation omitted).

The Proposed SAC alleges that RB was subjected to “unfair and discriminatory
disciplinary actions” (Proposed SAC 1 4) and was “disciplined for the manibestaf his
disabilities which are beyond his contfold. § 3. Plaintiffs allege that a student named “L”
was “similarly situated” to RB and that no disciplinary action was taken adaifa incidents

of physical and verbal abuseld. T 42. However, other than stating that “L” is “similarly

situated to RB and that the two students were in the samecselfained classroom, plaintiffs
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have not pleaded any factemonstrating a high degree of similarity between L and RB, or any
facts suggesting how L engaged in similar misconduct as RB but was not punishsithfor s
behavior. While plaintiffs allege that defendants treated RB differewthy fr because L “was
involved in issues resulting in the sole discipline of RB” (Pl. Opp. at 22), the atlegat the
Proposed SAC describe incidents between L and RB for which neither studentoyameds
SeeProposed SAC 11 42-52, 61-64. At most, the Proposed SAC alleges that RB was
“disciplined for the manifestations of his disabilities whichlz@gond his control”id. 1 3)
which resulted in incidentsetween RB antkachers, aides achool administrators (Proposed
SAC1121-27; 30-33, 71-76)yhile L was not punished when he intentionally bullR#. 1d.

11 4052, 60-64 Plaintiffs’ conclusory statement that L is a similarly situated to RB, without
any supporting facts to suggest an extremely high degree of similaitgdret. and RB is
insufficient to establish that “no rational person could regard [RB’s] circuncesa..to differ
from those of [L] to a degree that would justify the differentialttresmt.” Pappas 2015 WL
2146140, at *2djtation omitted) see alsdruston 610 F.3dat 60 (affirming district court’s
ruling that complaint failed to state a “class of one” equal protection claim \plaengiffs failed
to show that the alleged similarbjtuated properties were “so similar that no rational person
could see them as differentfarino v. City Univ. of New Yorld8 F. Supp. 3d 320, 341
(E.D.N.Y. 2014)(finding plaintiff failed to state a claim for violation of the Equal Protection
Clause because plaintiff had “not adequately alleged the extremely high degredaotys
between herself and her fellow students twise a motion to dismiss”Camac v. Long Beach
City Sch. Dist No. 09¢iv-5309, 2011 WL 3030345, at *16 (E.D.N.Y. July 22, 20(gthnting
motion to dismiss equal protection claim where “[a]side from assigning thesmedstudents

the title of ‘similarly situated,” the Complaint contain[ed] no other allegationsisigdvow
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another person’s circumstances...were prima facigichiro [plaintiff's]”) (citations and
guotations omitted).

Therefore, the branch of defendants’ Motion to Dismiss seeking dismissaintifisfa
Equal Protection Claim for failure to state a claim is granted.

4. Monell Claim

To hold a municipality liable und&ection1983 a plaintiff “must show that the
violation of constitutional rights resulted from a municipal custom or polRicciuti v. New
York City Transit Auth.941 F.2d 119, 122 (2d Cir. 199%ge also Monell. Dep’t of Soc.
Servs,. 436 U.S. 658, 694, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 L.Ed.2d 611 (1978). “Monell does not provide a
separate cause of action for the failure by theegawent to train its employeesgitends
liability to a municipal orgaization where that organizatianfailure totrain, or the policies or
customs that it has sanctioned, led to an independent constitutional viol§egal'v. City of
New York459 F.3d 207, 219 (2d Cir. 200@mphasis in original; citations omitted). “[T]o state
aclaim for municipal liability pursuant to § 1983, a plaintiff must plead facts suppdtfjrthe
existence of a constitutional violation, and (2) a policy or custom giving risettaidtegtion that
the municipality has actively enforced or knowingly ignoreBeéterec v. City of New Yqrklo.
14-civ-309, 2015 WL 1027367, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 6, 2019 order to state a viable Monell
claim, however, plaintiff must establish some constitutional violatiltchell v. Cnty. of
Nassauy 786 F. Supp. 2d 545, 563 (E.D.N.Y. 201dge also Claudio v. Sawy&75 F.Supp.2d
403, 408 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (“Under Second Circuit case law, a prerequisite to municipdy liabi
under Monell is an underlying constitutional violation by a state actor.”).

Based upon the foregoinglaintiffs have failed to adequately establishuamdelying

constitutional violation antheir Monell claim fails as wellSeeEskenaziMcGibney v.
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Connetquot Cent. Sch. DisNo. 14¢€iv-1591, 2015 WL 500871, at *14 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 6, 2015)
(“Having concluded that [plaintiff] does not state an equal protection cause of action under
Section 1983, the Court need not address whether the District may be liable forraokasuc
under Monell”);Lener v. Hempstead Pub. Scbb F. Supp. 3d 267 n.1E.D.N.Y. 2014)
(“when a plaintiff lacks any underlying claim of a deprivation of a constittrayia, the claim
of municipal liability on the part of the municipal defendant musdibmissed as well”);
McCluskey v. Town of Southamptdio. 12¢€iv-2394, 2013 WL 4049525, at *10 (E.D.N.Y.
Aug. 9, 2013)appeal dismissefDct. 8, 2013) (“having founthat plaintiff has failed to
adequately plead a predicate viaatiof his constitutional rightsany claim for municipal
liability necessarily fails as wéjl

C. Doctrine of Primary Jurisdiction

Defendants argue that the doctrine of primary jurisdiction precludes gkliok#ims
because “the review of discretionary determinations to impose disciplaeasgeneral rule,
committed to the Commissioner Bflucation by reason of the Commissioner’s specialized
expertise” (Def. Mem., at 14), that “New York State Education Law 8§ 310 “conferd broa
appellate jurisdiction on the Commissioner of Education to entertain and resolveamitey
within the context of the public education systemd” &t 15)andthat the Commissioner of
Education “should be afforded the opportunity to resolve issues such as these, as thegtrelat
to the disciplinary consequences imposed for student harassment and the bocesigrali
procedures of the District.Id.

Thediscretionarydoctrine of primary jurisdictiofipotentially applies when federal
courts have original jurisdiction to hear the claim and the claim requiressthiatien of issues

placed within the specialbbmpetence of an administrative body” and “is used to fix forum
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priority when the courts and an administrative agency have concurrent juoisaicgr an
issue.”Mrs. W. v. Tirozzi832 F.2d 748, 758-59 (2d Cir. 198if)térnal citations omittegl.
Although “[n]o fixed formula exists for applying thearine of primary jurisdictioh(United
States v. W. Pac. R.R. €852 U.S. 59, 64, 77 S.Ct. 161, 1 L.Ed.2d 126 (1956)), courts in the
Second Circuit generally consideur factors:

(1) whether the question at issue is within the conventional

experience of judges or whether it involves technical or policy

considerations within the agensyparticular field of expertis€2)

whether the question at issueparticularly within the agency’

discretion; (3) whether there exists a substantial danger of

inconsistent rulings; an@) whether a prior applican to the

agency has been made.
Schiller v. Tower Semiconductor Ltd49 F.3d 286, 295 (2d Cir. 2006). “[C]ourts seldom defer
to an administrativegency when the issue involved is purely a legal question not involving
either administrative experience or expertiséifozzi 832 F.2cat 759. New York courts have
held that “[tjhe general rule is that an appeal to the commissioner is the exctusaeddyrwhere
the issue involves the professional judgment and discretion of those responsible for the
administration of public schodlfhiowever, “[w]here [ ] a statutory or constitutional provision is
the basis of the dispute or where discrete issues ofraprasent which do not invawmatters
of policy, review...by the courts is propeiWalker v. Board of Educatioii8 A.D.2d 982, 982
433 N.Y.S.2d 660App. Div. 4th Dept. 1980) (citations and quotations omittedg also H. v.
New York Medical Collegé88 A.D.2d 296, 299, 453 N.Y.S.2d 19%pf. Div. 2d Dept. 1982)
(“We recognize that in cases where the issue involves the professional judgohdigcaetion
of educator@nd a statutory or constitutional provision is not the basis of the dispute and

discrete issues of law are not preselitect review by the courts of the academic policy

decisions of educators and educational institutions will not be proper”) (emphagi$. adde
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Here, resolution of plaintiffs’ remaining Federal Law Claims for violatioinkhe ADA
and the Rehabilitation Act depend upon the interpretation of those statutes, and thus do not
involve “technical or policy considerations within the Commissioner’s paatidield of
expertise but rather [are] within the conventional wisdom of this Coug.D.S. ex rel. Slade v.
Northport-E. Northport Union Free Sch. Dis®15 F. Supp. 2d 268, 276 (E.D.N.Y. 201sbe
alsoRackmyer v. Gate€hili Cent. School Dist48 A.D.2d 180, 183, 368 N.Y.S.2d 636 (App.
Div. 4th Dept. 1975) (“[W]here rights depend upon the interpretation of a statute wisich it i
claimed the school board or an official has violated, the courts will determine tiee ma
notwithstanding that another procedure for settling the controversy is avajlalblerther,
plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages for the alleged violatiope, & tglief that
cannot be granted by the Commissioner of Educat8ee G.D.$915 F. Supp. 2d at 276tlfe
Commissioner of Education would be unable to provide the Plaintiff redress...because the
Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief, compensatory damages and punitive damagdseffore, the
doctrine of primary jurisdiction does not bar adjudication of pléghFederal Law claims and
defendants’ Motion to Dismiss on this ground is denied.

D. State Law Claims

Plaintiffs’ fourth, fifth and sixth claims all assert state law negligence claims
(collectively, the “State Law Claims”). Plaintiffs’ fourth cause dfien alleges negligence and
negligent supervision and training (Proposed SAC 11 113-18), plaintiffs’ fifth chastion
sounds in negligence per s$é.{[ 11928), and plaintiffs’ sixth cause of action is for negligent

infliction of emotional distressid. 1 12936.
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1. Failure to Name Individual Defendants in Notice of Claim

Defendants moved to dismiss the state law claigasnst the Individual Defendants
basedupon,inter alia, plaintiffs’ “failfure] to name any of the individual Respondents” in the
Notice of Claim arguing that[i]t is well settled within New York state courts and federal courts
in the Second Circuthat[New York General Municipal Law § 5@ requiresa plaintiff to
name each defendant in the Notice of Claim in order to maintain a cause of actishthghin
defendant.” Def. Mem., at18-20 Plaintiffs’ notice of clairmames only the District and the
Board, ad not the Individual Defendants, as respondescket Entry No. 21, Ex. B]. In
their opposition, plaintiffs do not respond to this argument for dismissal of the Stat€laims
asserted against the Individual Defendants and therefore, the Court Heedtateé Law Claims
against the Individual Defendants to be abandois=tGorfinkel v. Ralf Vayntrub, Invar
Consulting Ltd.No. 11€iv-5802, 2014 WL 4175914, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 20, 2014)

(dismissing claims against two defendants because “[p]laintiff...waived@oosition with

4 In light of plaintiffs’ abandonment of tiseclaims, the Gurt neechotdecide which irgrmediate
appellate New York state court to follow on how rigidly to apply General &itati Law section 50-e.
SeeBailey v. City of New YorlNo. 14¢€iv-2091, 2015 WL 220940, at *21 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 15, 2015)
(noting that “[tihe New York Court of Appealas yet to resolve a split among the intermediate appellate
courts on how rigidly to apply the dictates afrigral Municipal Law section 5 The Fourth
Department has held that a plaintiff need not name each individual defendawticezof claim.

Goadwin v. Pretorius105 A.D.3d 207, 962 N.Y.S.2d 539, 545 (App.Div. [4th Dep’t] 2013) (“[Clourts
have misapplied or misunderstood the law in creating, by judicial fiaguarement for notices of claim
that goes beyond those requirements set forth in the statute. Ifiglatlee had intended that there be a
requirement that the individual employees be named in the notices of itleomld easily have created
such a requirement.”). The First Department disagre€efihorne v. City of N.Y99 A.D.3d 443, 952
N.Y.S.2d 114, 117 (App.Div. [1st Dep't] 2012) (“[T]he action cannot proceed against thedunaliv
defendants because they were not named in the notice of claim.”)”). Defendgutséat for dismissal
based on the failure to name the Individual Defendants indtiee of claim is plausible in light of the

line of cases following the First Departmenessoning.SeeSchafer v. Hicksville Union Free Sch. Dist.
No. 06<¢iv-2531, 2011 WL 1322903, at *11 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 20@i3missing claims against
defendarg not named in Notice of ClainfRuzza v. Vill. of Mamaroneck, N.¥Xo. 14¢€iv-1776, 2014

WL 6670101, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 6, 201@ismissing claim against individual defendant mentioned in
narrative but not identified as a respondent in Notice of Glaim
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respect to [defendants’] argument [for dismissal] by failing to oppose theiomjtd dismiss]
on that basis”)Tamir v. Bank of N.Y. MelloiNo. 12¢€iv-4780, 2013 WL 4522926, at *2
(E.D.N.Y. Aug. 27, 2013) (“Plaintiff has failed to provide any respon$2efendantsplausible
arguments, and, therefore, the Court deems the...claim abandofié@dri)as v. N.Y.C. Depof
Educ, No. 10€iv-464, 2013 WL 1346258, at *17 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2013) (“A court may, and
generally will, deem a claim abandoned when apfafails to respond to a defendasnt’
arguments that the claim should be dismissed.”) (internal quotation marks omitted)

2. Infant-Plaintiff's Failure to Appear for 56 Examination

Defendants argue that the State Law Claims against the District and Boali stho
dismissed based upon the infant-plaintiff's failure to comply with defendantsirtefor an oral
examination pursuant to New York Education Law 8§ 3813 and New York General Municipal
Law 8 50-h. Def. Mem., at 2P2. Plaintiffs agree with defendants that generally “[f]ailure to
comply with the demand for an examination precludes a plaintiff from assdging subject to
the notice of claim requirement” (Pl. Opp., at 29), dmgiuethat plaintiftinfant’'s “severe
disabilities” excused his failure to appear at théh=xamination.Id. at 29-30.

“Compliance with a demand for a General Municipal Law 8h6@xamination is a
condition precedent to the commencement of an action against a municipal defendant, and the
failure to so comply arrants dismissal of the actionHlymowitz v. City of New Yark22
A.D.3d 681, 682, 996 N.Y.S.2d 337, 338-39 (App. Div. 2d Dept. 2GB4) alsdvicDaniel v.

City of Buffalg 291 A.D.2d 826, 826, 737 N.Y.S.2d 904 (App. Div. 4th D2p@2) (“[ilt is well
settled that a plaintiff who has not compliediweneral Municipal Law 8 50-h (1) is precluded
from maintaining an action against a municipd)ity\N.Y. Gen. Mun. Law 8 50-h(%fWhere a

demand for examination has been served...no action shall be commenced against the...school
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district against which the claim is made unless the claimant has duly complied witlesuahd

for examination”).“The failure to submit to such an examination, hoarewnay be excused in
exceptional circumstances, such as extreme physical or psychological incapamenbuck v.
Sklarow 63 A.D.3d 823, 824, 880 N.Y.S.2d 359, 360 (App. Div. 2d Dept. 2009). “Only where a
claimant’s extreme incapacity has been shown have courts made exceptions to the General
Municipal Law’s examination provisions.Alford v. City of New Yorki15 A.D.2d 420, 421-22,

496 N.Y.S.2d 224 (App. Div. 1st Dept. 1988jf'd in part, appeal dismissed in pai7 N.Y.2d

1019, 494 N.E.2d 455 (198@)itations omitted).

Here, plaintiffs have not demonstrated “extreme physical or psycholagieglacity”
sufficient to excuse RB'’s failure to appear at then3tearing. Plaintiffs allege that RB “suffers
from multiple disabilities that impair his cognitive functions, as well as his expresmsive
receptive language skills” including “Klinefelter Syndrome, mild mental detaon,
developmental delays, brain trauma and autism...and severe anxiety disordepdRat 29
30) and compare RB to “the psychologically impaired plaintifiur [v. City of
Poughkeepsi€] Id. at 29. However, iklur, the Court did not find that plaintiff was excused
from submitting to a 5& hearing, but held that there was “sufficient question whether the
injuries suffered by plaintiff...rendered her incapable, psychologically onwites of
submitting to an oral examination...so as to require a hearing at Special Téumv: City of
Poughkeepsierl A.D.2d 1014, 1015, 420 N.Y.S.2d 414, 415 (App. Div. 2d Dept. 1979).
Moreover, inHur, the plaintiff's injuries, which includedspinal cord injury that rendered her a
complete quadriplegic, and, according to her physician’s affidavit, almoslgntir
“diaphragmatic” breathing and a “from ayghological point of view the most paralyzing sort of

vulnerability” (id. at 101415) were, like other cases where a plaintiff’s failure to appear at a 50

28



h hearing has been excused, more extreme than the impairments alleged hetenilateral
and sijecive assessment of plaintiffs and their attorneys” that RBwasdd not be able to
meaningfully participate in a 50 examinatiordoes not demonstrate “extreme incapacity” on the
part of RB to excuse compliance with General Municipal Lavn50ara ex rel. Lara v. City of
New York 187 Misc. 2d 882, 892, 726 N.Y.S.2d 217, 224-25 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cnty. pOiy)
entitled to summary judgment where infgtintiff was not produced for 50-h examination “due
to concerns about how an examination wouldcffeer mental health”Brian VV v. Chenango
Forks Cent. Sch. Dist299 A.D.2d 803, 804, 751 N.Y.S.2d 59 (App. Div. 3d Dept. 2002) (no
exceptional circumstances, such as extreme physical or psychological incppzszsnt to
excuse sixyearold petitioner’s failure to submit to a $0examination where plaintiffs offered
“only the lay opinion of a victim assistance worker that an examination wolikebeto
exacerbate the child’s anxiéty

Therefore, plaintiffs’ State Law Claims against the District and Board sngésied
based on plaintiff RB’s failure to appear for a 50-h examinat®eeG.D.S, 915 F. Supp. 2dt

281 (“Plaintiff's failure to appear for a 58 examination is fatal to his second cause of action”).

5 See alsaHymowitz 122 A.D.3d at 682 (“the failure to appear for an examination pursuant to
General Municipal Law 8§ 5 should have been excused in light of the decesidatith before service
of the demand for her examination, the administrator’s willingnegseaa at a hearing, and the
defendants’ failure to demand the examination of any other peré@ugaj Servs. Elderly, Disabled, or
Disadvantaged of W. New York, Inc. v. Cnty. of Bris A.D.3d 1321, 1321-22, 3 N.Y.S.3d 497, 498
(App. Div. 4th Dept2015) (plaintiff's failure to appear for the H0examination excused because
plaintiff “sustained a severe brain injury and [was] permanently incafetitand hisformer power of
attorney was unable to appear at the hearing or reschedule the hearing for a latsradiste e was
hospitalized with various ailments'$teenbuck63 A.D.3dat 82324 (failure of plaintiff, who had
“sustained traumatic brain injury...was hospitalized...[had] speech, meamycognitive deficits,
[could not] hold an intelligent conversation, and hala recall of the accident,” to appear at theh50
hearing did not warrant dismissal of the complaifitijtty v. City of New Yorkl95 A.D2d 354, 355, 600
N.Y.S.2d 66, 67 (App. Div. 1st Dept 1993) (counsel’s representation that plairfiéffed from
guadriplegia and was unable to attend the 50-h hearing were not fraudulesegmegiiens warranting
dismissal of the complaint because tbpresentations concerning plaintiff, who was confined to her
home and bedyad no practical use of her legs and arms, and was in general failing headth, w
substantially accurate).
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1. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasondaintiffs’ CrossMotion to Amend is granted in part and
denied in part andefendants’ Motion to Dismisdeemedas directd at the Proposed SAC, is
graned in part and denied in part. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is denied as to plaintiffs’
ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims against the District and the Board; grantegksmiffs’
ADA and Rehabilitation Act claimsgainst the Individual Defendants; granted aplantiffs’
Equal Protection Claim against all defendants; and granted as to plaintiffsL8tat@aims
against aldefendants Plaintiffs’ CrossMotion to Amend is granted insofar as plaintifDA
and Rehaltitation Act claimsagainst théistrict andthe Boardfor disability discrimination and

retaliation remain pending in this action.

SO ORDERED.

s/ Sandra J. Feuerstein
Sandra J. Feuerstein
United States District Judge

Dated:June 16, 2015
Central Islip, New York
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